

Independent Living Research Utilization

PARTNERS

INDEPENDENT LIVING
RESEARCH UTILIZATION
(ILRU)

Boston College Graduate
School of Social Work

FAMILY VOICES, INC.

HUMAN SERVICES
RESEARCH INSTITUTE

INSTITUTE FOR DISABILITY Access

THE MEDSTAT GROUP, INC.

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF STATE UNITS ON AGING

CHANCE
INSTITUTE ON DISABILITY
UNIVERSITY OF
NEW HAMPSHIRE

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY
(CENTER FOR PERSONS

Hallmarks and Features of High—Quality Community-Based Services

Second of Three Papers on Unlocking the code of effective Systems Change

Prepared by:

Michael J. Kendrick,, Ph.D. Lee Bezanson, J.D. Richard E. Petty, M.B.A. Darrell L. Jones, M.A.

January 2006

ILRU Community Living Partnership
National State-to-State Technical Assistance Center
A National Technical Assistance Program at
Independent Living Research Utilization

© January 2006

ILRU Program 2323 S. Shepherd, Suite 1000 Houston, TX 77019 713.520.0232 (Voice and TTY) 713.520.5785 (Fax) http://www.ilru.org

Lex Frieden ILRU Director

Richard Petty Director ILRU Community Living Partnership

Darrell Jones
Program Coordinator
ILRU Community Living Partnership

Publications Staff: Marisa Demaya, Sharon Finney, and Darrell Jones

ILRU supports community independence for people with disabilities through a national program of research, education, consulting, and publications. ILRU is a program of The Institute for Rehabilitation and Research (TIRR), a nationally recognized, freestanding rehabilitation facility for persons with physical disabilities. TIRR is a part of TIRR Systems, which is a not-for-profit corporation dedicated to providing a continuum of services to individuals with disabilities.

This paper was developed under Grant No. 18-P-91554/6-01 from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). The contents do not necessarily represent the official position of CMS and no endorsement should be inferred.

Table of Contents

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	HALLMARKS AND FEATURES OF HIGH-QUALITY COMMUNITY-BASE SERVICES	
HA	ALLMARK ONE: HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES MEET THE SERVICE NEEDS OF THE PERSONS	
	RVED	4
	1. Personalized Services	4
	2. Flexible Service Definitions and Policies	5
	3. Responsive, Flexible, and Changeable Services	
	4. Blended Formal and Informal Supports	
	5. Personalized Safeguards that are not Invasive	6
	6. Minimized Bureaucracy for Service Users	
	7. Information and Education Supporting Service User Choice	
	ALLMARK TWO: HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES ARE BASED ON SOUND THEORIES AND ACTICES.	7
	1. Use of Best Practice Models	
	2. Consumer Involvement in Research and Model Development	
EF	ALLMARK THREE: HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES ARE ADMINISTERED COMPETENTLY AND	
	1. Consumer Direction of Services	
	2. People-Centered and Vision-Driven Services	
	3. Effective Administration of Service Programs	
	4. Feedback Loops and Quality Management for Continuous Service Improvement	
	 Leader and Staff Competencies Supporting Effective Services Cost Benefits of Services 	
Н	ALLMARK FOUR: HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES SUPPORT INTEGRATION AND INCLUSION	10
	1. Services Embedded in the Community	
	2. Support of Social Inclusion	
	3. Support in Acquiring Valued Social Roles and Positive Social Images	
HA	ALLMARK FIVE: HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES ACKNOWLEDGE AND SUPPORT DIVERSITY	11
	1. Nondiscrimination in Service Delivery and all Operations	
	2. Antiracism and Cultural Competence in Service Programs	
III.	CONCLUSION	12
TX7	DEADING LICT	12

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the gift of time and insights shared by Real Choice Systems Change grantees during our onsite visits: New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services, Arkansas Division of Aging and Adult Services, Connecticut Association of Centers for Independent Living, Connecticut Department of Social Services, Long Term Care Authority of Tulsa, New York State Department of Health and Broome County New York CASA, and Center for Excellence in Disabilities at West Virginia University; and their numerous associates. We also acknowledge the additional people beyond these who attended the "Unlocking the Code of Effective Systems Change" colloquium in Houston, January 2005. We thank those who assisted the authors by leading colloquium discussion groups, including Melissa Wittman, Ernest McKenney, Jay Klein, Dave Hasbury, and Lex Frieden. We also wish to thank Karen Kuralt and Kaye Beneke for their expert editorial assistance. And finally, we are deeply grateful to Melissa Hulbert and Cathy Cope of CMS; Jay Klein of CHANCE, University of New Hampshire; and Leandre Waldo-Johnson of Boston College Graduate School of Social Work, without whose support and guidance this work would not have been possible.

-

¹ A list of participants can be found at http://www.ilru.org/html/projects/CMS/colloquiumindex.htm

I. Introduction

Over the past several years, staff members and partners of the Independent Living Research Utilization (ILRU) team have provided technical assistance, training, publications, and other support to the Real Choice Systems Change initiative of the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. As we conducted this important work, we began to observe there were clear distinctions between those programs that achieved (or showed real promise for) enduring change and those programs that failed to realize their full potential. In 2004, after almost four years of working with Real Choice grantees, we took the step of looking much more closely at how to foster meaningful, sustainable changes in the social services systems that support people with disabilities of any age. We identified six outstanding projects that had received Real Choice Systems Change grants; each of these projects initiated significant and beneficial change in their respective states (Arkansas, Connecticut, New Hampshire, New York, Oklahoma, and West Virginia). The chosen projects were diverse in many respects, including --

- the scale, scope, and character of the service systems in place,
- the people and needs that were the focus of the changes,
- the types of participants involved in the change process,
- the changes being pursued, and
- the history and duration of the change process.

We asked representatives of these projects to reflect on their experiences and share lessons they learned about systems change. We interviewed project staff and consumer leaders. We wanted to know whether there were common factors that are central to achieving people-friendly systems change.

In January 2005, ILRU continued its investigation by inviting representatives from the six projects and other key Real Choice Systems Change leaders to a colloquium to discuss key elements of meaningful and sustainable systems change.² The group spent 2 1/2 days in Houston in active dialogue focused on three topics:

- Key components of systems change
- Features of a high-quality community service system

² Readers interested in the original three papers used as catalysts to stimulate dialogue at the colloquium may access them at http://www.ilru.org/html/projects/CMS/colloquiumindex.htm

 Promotion of self-direction and consumer control in service programs and systems

From our study of successful programs and the recommendations and guidance of the colloquium participants, we have developed three papers that address these central aspects of the creation of enduring change.

The first paper in the series, *Key Components of Systems Change*, creates an overall framework for the discussion of systems change and serves as a summary of the concepts discussed in all three papers. In addition, it includes several specific recommendations that can be applied now by any grantee, state, or program to enhance prospects of achieving enduring change in home and community based services.

This paper, Hallmarks and Features of High Quality Community Based Services, the second in the series, identifies the features of high-quality integrated community services and the systems that support them. The paper is a first step toward the creation of a catalog of what key leaders, the practitioners, users, and advocates who supported development of this paper, consider to be some of the most important features of integrated home- and communitybased services; features that distinguish them from services considered more traditional and less supportive of choice and full integration. In its present form, it serves as foundation work for additional exploration and discussion of what constitutes truly effective community-based services. The paper will undergo continuing development in discussions with representatives of projects and consumer leaders in states. The author's believe the paper, in its current form, will augment assessment of existing systems and planning of new or improved systems and, after refinement, it will become an even more useful tool for those involved in systems transformation.

The third paper in the series, *Promoting Self-Direction and Consumer Control in Home- and Community-Based Service Systems*, examines what contemporary social service systems can do to promote consumer-directed services. We identify different features that make a service "self-directed," and we identify characteristics of successful consumer direction and self-determination. As with the second paper, in its present form, it serves as foundation work for additional dialogue and will also undergo continuing development in discussions with representatives of projects and consumer leaders in states.

II. Hallmarks and Features of High-Quality Community-Based Services

Home- and community-based services are a relatively new feature on the disability services landscape. Historically, people who experienced a disability or chronic illness relied on informal service from family, formalized supports delivered in institutional settings, or restrictive, medically-oriented community services that often constrained options and limited integration into community life.

There are many definitions of home- and community-based services, most of which are related to funding streams and programs associated with a particular set of services. In simplest terms, home- and community-based services are services that are needed by people with disabilities, including older adults, to live in their own homes in the community. Examples include assistance in making a transition from an institution or nursing home to the community; personal assistance with such activities as bathing, dressing, and grooming; and independent living skills training. Closely related to the definition of home- and community-based services is the concept of independent living, first defined as

Control over one's life based on the choice of acceptable options that minimize reliance on others in making decisions and in performing everyday activities. This includes managing one's affairs, participating in day-to-day life in the community, fulfilling a range of social roles, and making decisions that lead to self-determination and the minimization of physical or psychological dependence upon others. (Frieden, et al. 1979)

When home-based and community-based services first began to appear, they were highly experimental; little was known about what factors made them more or less successful. Over time, however, states and community organizations have gained experience in providing home- and community-based services through formalized structures. We are now in a good position to ask, "What are the features of high-quality community services (and the systems that support them) which foster integration and full inclusion?"

We recognize from the outset that the term "quality" is subjective and multidimensional. From one perspective, the most important definition should come from those using the services. Yet in evaluating formalized services, the authors propose that the term must embrace the concepts of integration and inclusion, as well as more traditional views of quality that include factors such as overall effectiveness, accountability, efficacy, and cost-benefit analysis.

With this complexity in mind, ILRU and those who participated in the colloquium identified features of high-quality services that support integration and inclusion. We started by acknowledging agreement on three fundamental overarching hallmarks. These global hallmarks are:

High-quality services meet the service needs of those served.

- High-quality services are based on sound theories and practices.
- High-quality services are competently and efficiently administered.

Most would agree these three fundamental themes are consistent with mainstream thinking on quality management in human service systems. In addition, the authors, with the assistance of colloquium participants, identified two additional hallmarks:

- High-quality services support integration and inclusion of the individual so he or she can be as much a part of the community as possible.
- High-quality services foster diversity.

In this paper, we describe specific features of home- and community-based services that exemplify the five hallmarks listed above. Our purpose is to identify and present, in one paper, the most important hallmarks of high-quality community services. Of course, several of the highlighted features have been written about by other authors. Further, this paper does not attempt to provide a comprehensive listing of features. Instead, we address those features considered to be of the greatest importance by one group of key leaders, service users, advocates, and experienced practitioners.

Colloquium participants helped us by both testing the initial catalog and amplifying and adding depth to the initial presentation. Their feedback took place in reaction to the initial papers we presented for review. Their comments were made both prior to and during the colloquium.

Hallmark One: High-Quality Services Meet the Service Needs of the Persons Served

What is it that makes services and the systems supporting them truly responsive to user needs? Those we interviewed and who participated in the colloquium identified the following features.

1. Personalized Services

Services can be adapted to meet the unique needs of the individuals served. There is a growing belief among those receiving services and their advocates that building service supports around the needs of the individual is a fundamental requirement of any service system. Much of the work in person-centered approaches draws on this principle. One colloquium participant stated, "Systems traditionally do not begin with the voice of the consumer, they only end with it." Although few disagree with the concept of adaptability, how well services are individualized is often a matter of degree. When systems, policies, and practices are not properly adapted, individual service users may have to adjust to ill-suited services that intrude on their autonomy or are otherwise harmful.

If systems were to start with the voice of the consumer and allow the consumer to define what the services for them were to be, as well as end with the consumer determining whether the system achieved its goals, it is more likely that the services will actually meet the unique needs of the individual.

Meeting needs means more than simply making available what is needed. It also means meeting needs in a useful and sensitive way. Services must offer a workable fit between individual needs and preferences and program content; service programs must be flexible enough to change if this fit doesn't materialize.

2. Flexible Service Definitions and Policies

Broadened service definitions and service policies can further custom design of services, including what occurs when a service is provided, who provides it, who is responsible for decisions, etc. Service definitions and policies are often restrictive and prescriptive and flexibility can be promoted by not "ratcheting down" such definitions and policies. Involving those who receive services in the creation of definitions is also crucial. Consumer direction is also addressed in Hallmark Three: below.

3. Responsive, Flexible, and Changeable Services

Another feature of high-quality community services is that the systems supporting those services have mechanisms for staying in communication with users to keep abreast of changes in their lives and to respond in flexible and creative ways.

The lives of service users are dynamic, just as are the lives of most people. As service users experience new dreams, goals, and circumstances, they may need a new array of services and supports to meet those needs.

It is worthwhile to ask "what is needed in the service system to meet individual needs?" A colloquium participant stated: "We ask 'what does a person need,' but it may be more important to ask, 'what does this community, group, workplace, and system need' in order to support that person?" A high-quality community service system responds in flexible and creative ways as life changes for the people it serves. Services that rely too heavily on across-the-board standardized, and non-negotiable service options will clearly be unable to respond in the ways that meet people's ever-changing needs.

4. Blended Formal and Informal Supports

As the growing numbers of consumer-directed programs in the nation are demonstrating, services do not necessarily need to be provided through paid, formal supports offered by agencies and professionals. Informal supports often provide rich possibilities for meeting the needs of service users. Informal

supports include support from family, friends, neighbors, and others in the community. Examples include having a neighbor shop for groceries, having a family member assist with cooking or grooming, or asking a church member to run errands. The evidence is mounting (such as demonstrated in the Cash & Counseling program) that the quality of informal supports can be quite high and integral to a comprehensive package of supports.

Formal supports may still be crucial to a person's well being. When a community service creatively blends informal and formal supports that the person desires and needs, the service adds benefits to that person's life that formal supports alone cannot achieve. Formal systems can meet the needs of service recipients and they can also help them leverage the resources of their communities to enrich supports.

5. Personalized Safeguards that are not Invasive

High-quality community services provide intentional and personalized safeguards. It has become popular in business to create "cultures of safety" to focus the attention of managers and workers on safety. The same can be done in service systems. However, those involved in administering and delivering services are also called to avoid invasive practices. Most people manage their lives to minimize the risks that they can control. Individuals who use services also need to manage risks. Service systems have a role in supporting them as they do so, but controlling risk can become invasive. It may be harmful if the social service system imposes across-the-board safeguards. It is important that those providing services engage in thorough and thoughtful discussions of risks with those receiving services and that they together establish means for addressing those risks. Colloquium participants recommended identifying a transparent and objective process--perhaps a consumer review process--to prevent risk assurances from being burdensome or invasive. Care must be taken to ensure those receiving services have the same level of autonomy that others have and that service systems do not become overly prescriptive.

6. Minimized Bureaucracy for Service Users

It is important that service users experience as little bureaucracy as possible, that they be spared from dealing with the forms of bureaucracy they find onerous. Service system designers and managers should consider thoughtfully what information must be gathered to determine eligibility and to provide service system accountability, and then gather only that which is absolutely essential. Administrators should establish mechanisms that streamline assessments and reviews and ensure that these can be accomplished with an absolute minimum of disruption to the daily routine of the person receiving services. They should consider carefully where the boundary is between risk management and restrictive, unnecessary control, then eliminate or reduce provider control in

those situations in which control on the part of service users (or families) is more appropriate.

7. Information and Education Supporting Service User Choice

The popularity of consumer-directed options continues to grow because service users and their families perceive these services as highly beneficial. In our culture, it is a part of people's nature to want to "captain their own ship."

One key aspect of successfully personalizing services is to recognize that people may need education and training in order to participate fully. If people don't know what options are available, they are unlikely to make an informed choice. People who lack experience in making autonomous decisions (for example, adults who grew up in the Special Education system) may well need skills training to maximize their potential. As more individuals and families develop the tools to make their own choices, more of them will embrace the concept.

Regardless of background or circumstance, all service users can benefit from comprehensive, user-friendly information about services and options. Also, one colloquium discussion group suggested that informational resources should not necessarily be created solely from "within the system." Consumers and advocates can play an important role in creating materials, information, and training about services and options.

Hallmark Two: High-Quality Services Are Based on Sound Theories and Practices

1. Use of Best Practice Models

The defining assumptions at the core of service models must be consistent not only with what people actually need, but also with "best practice" service models that have been shown to be effective. Sometimes service models are adopted with little appreciation for their theoretical foundation or the evidence for and against these theories. Service models are based on some theory or assumption. The advantage of understanding the underlying theory is that it can be appraised consciously rather than followed uncritically. Leaders in service systems are called to -

- Review best (evidence based) practices literature often.
- Examine best practices in other states through facilitated technical assistance activities (when available) or through other informal means.
- Incorporate ongoing quality evaluation and accountability standards into the system design.

 Incorporate improvements based on best practice evidence and evaluation findings.

More and more, best practice models are demonstrating creativity and innovation and have been the basis for many of the most-appreciated recent improvements in community-based services.

2. Consumer Involvement in Research and Model Development

Colloquium participants noted there is a dearth of consumer involvement in research. They suggested that consumers (service users and advocates) be the impetus, the "drivers," of policy research and evaluation. Consumer dominated research into best practices is essential, participants said. "Instead of having 'experts' develop the research and consumers 'bless' it, have it start with the consumer."

Hallmark Three: High-Quality Services Are Administered Competently and Efficiently

Consumer Direction of Services

Colloquium participants underscored a widely held advocacy perspective: consumer involvement at all levels of service systems is essential to ensure that services are truly responsive to user needs. Many projects use an advisory body or consumer task force that may be required by funding sources. Colloquium participants stressed that consumer leadership must be authentic, meaning that users and advocates must be involved in true decision-making bodies. Some Real Choice Systems Change projects have successfully created and maintained advisory bodies that have authentic policy setting authority. However, by the definition of advisory, this is usually not the case. To create authentic opportunities for consumers to have a substantive say in policy setting. colloquium participants recommended that decision-making bodies should include at least 51 percent consumer membership and that program administrators should make every effort to support users and advocates in their leadership roles. Support includes providing travel allowances and personal assistance services related to consumer participation, ensuring meetings are conducted in accessible locations, and providing all materials in alternate formats. Employing service users in decision-making roles and as consumer consultants can ensure service programs are responsive to consumer voices. Participants also stated that consumer leadership should be at all levels of program administration, community, state, and federal. The third paper in this series addresses consumer direction in service systems.

2. People-Centered and Vision-Driven Services

A service can be very well administered and yet be misguided in its models and practices so that its outcomes are actually harmful to people. "Management" is not the same as leadership, and a well-managed service is not necessarily a people-centered service. Values-based leadership mobilizes people not only to be effective, but more important, to be effective at the right things, in the right way, and for the right reasons. At the outset of any systems change effort, it is useful for all stakeholders to engage in a process of values identification and clarification so that a common set of values and objectives can be established. Values that are supported by all will thus drive program implementation. This kind of consensus building can lessen the possibility that a program will get off track. When there is a clear vision, service leaders can bring the organization and service practices back to a people-centered and vision-driven mission.

3. Effective Administration of Service Programs

High-quality community services must be well administered to ensure not only program integrity and quality, but also to ensure the functionality, dependability, and consistency of the services being provided to users. Systems of administration should incorporate mechanisms to ensure accountability to service users and other stakeholders. Administration is a support function that helps to achieve the key purposes of services. Thus, a well-administered service not only pleases administrators, but also achieves the people-centered purpose for which the service was designed.

4. <u>Feedback Loops and Quality Management for Continuous Service</u> Improvement

The same mechanisms that promote service flexibility, through staying in communication with users, can also support continuous improvement. Those who deliver and administer services can go beyond traditional evaluation approaches to incorporate a variety of continuous-improvement, learning-organization techniques to ascertain how well (or if) services meet user needs. This involves not only evaluating effectiveness, but incorporating mechanisms that effect rapid changes in services and systems when feedback points to such needs. Among the aspects of services and systems that should be assessed continuously are effectiveness, responsiveness, quality, timeliness, and overall user satisfaction. Colloquium participants described this as "developing a culture of customer satisfaction."

5. Leader and Staff Competencies Supporting Effective Services

Administrators and service providers must have the skills and abilities to offer services that are responsive to user needs and that support integration. Selection criteria for leaders should take into account not only program and administrative

experience, but also understanding of consumer direction and the philosophies and perspectives expressed in the key themes of this paper, as well as the competencies to implement them. This is also true for staff development activities. Ongoing support and skills training is a critical ingredient for ensuring that leaders and staff possess the competencies that will help them ensure services will be judged to be of "high-quality" by those who use them. The first paper in this series offers several specific recommendations for training of service system leaders.

6. Cost Benefits of Services

The term "cost benefit" refers to the balance between a program's costs and benefits: the better the balance, the more economic the service. In other words, the value for money is either impressive, or it is not.

The only way this balance can be evaluated, however, is to be clear about what "benefit" refers to; cost alone is meaningless until it is linked to what benefits the money has produced. The key question is, do the services genuinely meet people's needs at a reasonable cost? An expensive service may fail to yield much consumer benefit, while a very inexpensive service might be powerfully effective.

Expenditure levels must not be equated with quality outcomes. In fact, spending too much can interfere with quality if money is spent on the wrong things or if money is spent on meeting desires rather than needs. A service is most cost-beneficial if it effectively uses resources to provide the services its users really need. Determining the cost benefit of services, colloquium participants said, is one way of being accountable to users, stakeholders, and the larger community.

Hallmark Four: High-Quality Services Support Integration and Inclusion

1. Services Embedded in the Community

Although the concept is difficult to define, perhaps because the word community has so many connotations, the colloquium participants generally agreed that because high-quality community-based services are built around and meet the needs of individual users, the administration of those services should include local users and (to a lesser degree) providers. If parties who are remote from a community control the services, and if those parties are not accountable to service users or to the community, then services are *not* considered to be community-based. Colloquium participants emphasized the importance of bringing decision-making to the community level, as close to the service user as possible.

2. Support of Social Inclusion

Institutional social services have traditionally removed people from their natural communities to relatively segregated locations. This can result in lives of permanent exclusion. A high-quality community service does not separate people from their natural communities. Separation deprives people of civic participation in the name of service, treatment, or protection. If service providers do not value keeping users connected to their communities, or if providers do nothing to enable those connections, service users will become isolated, either coercively or from the simple lack of options for connection.

3. Support in Acquiring Valued Social Roles and Positive Social Images

The ability to take full advantage of community life is contingent on whether an individual has access to social roles that he or she values. A service can markedly assist individuals by helping them to be seen in a positive way and to acquire the social roles they value within community life. If a service leaves its users stigmatized, socially devalued, and bereft of life roles they desire, that service fails to meet the human needs for respect and status commonly available to other citizens. High-quality community-based services enable an individual to develop positive roles and interactions based on the person's preferences.

Colloquium participants were careful to distinguish this concept from "empowerment," stating that empowerment is highly personal and that others cannot give or take away personal power. Nevertheless, they readily acknowledged that services and service systems could either support or hinder inclusion and that these systems should, at all cost, support inclusion.

Hallmark Five: High-Quality Services Acknowledge and Support Diversity

Participants in the colloquium expressed not only their own support of diversity, but also their strongly held belief that services and service systems can either foster or hinder diversity, and that systems should aggressively further diversity.

1. Nondiscrimination in Service Delivery and all Operations

Most service programs are prohibited from discrimination by various state and federal laws. This is certainly the case when programs receive federal funding. Nondiscrimination requirements include race, ethnicity, gender, age, disability, and in some states, other protected classes. All aspects of program operation can be covered, including nondiscrimination in service delivery and employment. Those addressing the issue in the colloquium acknowledged that nondiscrimination is not only a primary obligation, it is also a widely held expectation of service users and advocates and that programs should be exemplary in their compliance with such requirements. Further, colloquium participants were emphatic that programs avoid discrimination and promote

inclusion not only within the organizations that administer services, but also in all stakeholder activities such as task forces and advisory bodies.

2. Antiracism and Cultural Competence in Service Programs

There is a growing expectation that programs must go beyond compliance to address diversity by engaging in antiracism efforts and fostering cultural competence. Those administering programs must make it a priority that leaders, staff, and others involved in service programs (including advisors and boards) acquire culturally-related competencies in service delivery, employment, and all other aspects of service systems.

III. Conclusion

In this paper we have described hallmarks and features of high-quality services identified by users, practitioners, and advocates. We present these elements as a framework that can be helpful in designing improvements in existing systems and in developing entirely new systems. This paper is in no way the final word on what high-quality services are and what they are not. Our understanding of the key features of a high-quality community-based service continues to grow and expand as we collectively gain experience in designing and improving consumer-directed, quality-driven service options. We hope this paper will serve an immediate purpose of providing a catalog that lists and describes the features of services that support consumer choice, integration, and inclusion, the features that service users and advocates believe distinguish progressive service systems from more traditional ones. We believe such a catalog will be of value to program developers, evaluators, and managers and that it will facilitate further discussion and discovery among all stakeholders working to transform the social services systems that serve people with disabilities of any age.

IV. Reading List

This list, which is common to all three systems change papers produced by ILRU, contains the two publications which were referenced in the second and third papers, but primarily is offered as a reading list for those wishing to read more about improving service systems to make them more responsive to people with disabilities, the users of those systems. The list draws from many fields, not just human services. Not all materials are still in print, but the reader should be able to locate all these references in most large libraries.

Badcock, C.R., The Problem of Altruism, Basil Blackwell, 1986

Bella, Robert N., Madsen, Richard, Sullivan, William M., Swidler, Ann, Tipton, Steven, M., *The Good Society*, Vintage, 1992

Bella, Robert N., Madsen, Richard, Sullivan, William M., Swidler, Ann, Tipton, Steven, M., *Habits of The Heart*, University of California Press, 1985

Ciulla, Joanne B., (Editor), Ethics; The Heart of Leadership, Praeger, 1998

Colby, Anne, Damon, William, Some Do Care: Contemporary Lives of Moral Commitment, The Free Press, 1992

Coles, Robert, The Call of Service: A Witness to Idealism, Houghton Mifflin, 1993

Collins, Pam, (editor), *Relationships and Everyday Lives*, CRU Publications, Brisbane, Australia

Driedger, Diane, *The Last Civil Rights Movement, Disabled Peoples International*, St. Martin's Press, 1989

Easterbrook, Gregg, *The Progress Paradox; How Life Gets Better While People Feel Worse*, Random House, 2004

Eddelman, Murray, *The Symbolic Uses of Politics*, University of Illinois Press, 1985

Fratangelo, Pat, Olney, Marjorie, Lehr, Sue, *One Person at a Time*, Training Resource Network, Inc., 2001

Frieden, L., Richards, L., Cole, J., & Bailey, D. (1979). *ILRU Source Book: A Technical Assistance Manual on Independent Living*. Houston, Texas: Independent Living Research Utilization

Galper, Jeffry H., *The Politics of Social Services*, Prentice Hall International, 1975

Gilman, Sander I., *Disease and Representation, Images of Illness from Madness to AIDS*, Cornell University Press, 1988

Gladwell, Malcolm, *The Tipping Point; How Little Things Can Make a Big Difference*, Back Bay, 2002

Goffman, Erving, Relations in Public, Harper and Row, 1971

Goffman, Erving, Frame Analysis, Harper and Row, 1974

Gottschalk, Simon S., Communities and Alternatives; An Exploration of the Limits of Planning, John Wiley And Sons, 1975

Gray, Barry, Jackson, Robin, (editors), *Advocacy and Learning Disability*, Jessica Kingley Publishers, 2002

Hillman, James, Kinds of Power; A Guide to Its Intelligent Uses, Doubleday, 1995

Hoopes, James, False Prophets; The Gurus Who Created Modern Management and Why Their Ideas Are Bad for Business, Perseus Books, 2003

Hoos, Ida R., Systems Analysis in Public Policy; A Critique, University of California Press, 1972

Ignatieff, Michael, *The Rights Revolution*, House of Anansi Press Limited, 2000

Kallen, Evelyn, Label Me Human; Minority Rights for Stigmatized Canadians, University of Toronto Press, 1989

Kendrick, M., Levels of Empowerment, *Planet Advocacy*, Issue Number 7, March 2004, pp 6-7

Klees, Janet, We Come Bearing Gifts, The Story of the Deohaeko Support Network, Copywell, North York, Ontario

Kuhn, Thomas S., The Structure of Scientific Revolutions, 2nd Edition, 1970

Kouzes, James M., Posner, Barry Z., Credibility, Jossey Bass, 1993

Kouzes, James M., Posner, Barry Z., *The Leadership Challenge, Third Edition*, Jossey Bass, 2002

Lasch, Christopher, *The Revolt of the Elites and the Betrayal of Democracy*, W.W. Norton And Co., 1995

Leiss, William, *The Limits To Satisfaction: An Essay on the Problems of Needs and Commodities*, University of Toronto Press, 1976

Loeb, Paul, R., Soul of a Citizen, St Martins Griffin, 1999

Loeb, Paul, R., The Impossible Will Take a Little While, Basic Books, 2004

Melnyk, George, *The Search for Community; From Utopia to a Cooperative Society,* University of Toronto Press, 1985

Minow, Martha, Making All the Difference; Inclusion, Exclusion and American Law, Cornell University Press, 1990

Morgan, Gareth, Images of Organization; The Executive Edition, Sage, 1998

Neugeboren, Jay, *Transforming Madness; New Lives for People Living with Mental Illness*, William Morrow And Company, 1998

Oliner, Samuel P., Oliner, Pearl, M., *The Altruistic Personality*, The Free Press, 1988

Porta, Donatella Della, Diani, Mario, *Social Movements; An Introduction*, Blackwell Publishers 1999

Palmer, John L., Smeeding, Timothy, Torrey, Barbara B., *The Vulnerable*, The Urban Institute Press, 1988

Piven, Francis Fox, Cloward, Richard A., *Poor People's Movements; Why They Succeed, How They Fail*, Vintage Books, 1977

Putnam, Robert D., *Bowling Alone*, Simon and Schuster, 2000

Race, David, (editor), Leadership and Change in Human Services, Selected Readings of Wolf Wolfensberger, Routledge, 2003

Reinders, Hans S., *The Future of the Disabled in Liberal Society; An Ethical Analysis*, University of Notre Dame press, 2000

Resnick, Herman, Patti, Rino J., (Editors), *Change from Within*, Temple University Press, 1980

Rost, Joseph C., Leadership for the Twenty-First Century, Praeger, 1993

Rosenberg, Charles E., *The Care of Strangers; The Rise of America's Hospital System*, Basic Books, 1987

Saddhatissa, Hammalawa, *Buddhist Ethics*, Wisdom Publications, 1997

Sharpe, Virginia A., Faden, Alan I., *Medical Harm; Historical, Conceptual and Ethical Dimensions of latrogenic Illness*, Cambridge University Press, 1998

Thrall, Bill, McNicoll, Bruce, McElrath, Ken, Blanchard, Ken, *The Ascent of a Leader; How Ordinary Relationships Develop Extraordinary Character and Influence*, Jossey Bass, 1999

Toch, Hans, The Social Psychology of Social Movements, Bobbs-Merrill, 1965

Tronto, Joan C., *Moral Boundaries; A Political Argument for an Ethic of Care*, Routledge, 1993

Turnbull, H.R., Turnbull, Ann P., *Parents Speak Out; Then and Now, second edition*, Charles E. Merrill Publishing, 1985

Volkan, Vamik D., *The Need to Have Enemies and Allies*, Jason Aronson Inc., 1988

Wharf, Brian, Communities and Social Policy in Canada, Maclellan and Stewart, 1992

Wilson, James Q., *The Moral Sense*, The Free Press, 1993

Wolfe, Alan, Whose Keeper? Social Science and Moral Obligation, University Of California Press, 1989

Wolfensberger, Wolf, *The Principle of Normalization in Human Services*, National Institute on Mental Retardation, 1972

Wolfensberger, Wolf, and Glenn, L., *Program Analysis of Service Systems: A Method for the Quantitative Evaluation of Human Services, 2nd Edition*, National Institute on Mental Retardation, 1973

Wright, Chris, *The Sufficient Community; Putting People First*, Green Books, Devon, 1997